JAN 1 0 2019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

JOAN MAURI BAREFOOT, Petitioner and Appellant,

Supreme Court No. S251574

v.

Court of Appeal No. F076395

JANA SUSAN JENNINGS et al., Defendants and Respondents.

Superior Court No. PR11414

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF TUOLUMNE COUNTY

Honorable Kate Powell Segerstrom, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District

LAW OFFICES OF NATHAN D. PASTOR NATHAN D. PASTOR (SBN 299235) 2033 N. Main St., Ste 750 Walnut Creek, CA 94596 nathan@nathanpastor.com Phone: (925) 322-1012

Phone: (925) 322-1012 Fax: (925) 322-6320

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether a former beneficiary of a trust lacks standing to challenge the validity of amendments to that trust that resulted in disinheritance?

INTRODUCTION

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's (hereinafter referred to as "Fifth DCA") opinion stands for the proposition that beneficiaries impacted by acts against the trust settlor such as fraud or undue influence must prosecute those claims in civil court, not probate court. Joan Mauri Barefoot

(hereinafter referred to as "Appellant") is baffled as to why the trial court and the Fifth DCA didn't simply transfer Appellant's trust contest to a different court if they thought a different court was better suited to hear Appellant's claims. Under Probate Code 16061.7 beneficiaries only have 120 days after receiving the notification from the trustee to bring a trust contest. The required 16061.7 notification was sent to Appellant on October 24, 2016. (Motion for Judicial Notice, hereinafter referred to as "MJN" at 0002-0003). Therefore, Appellant may be barred from bringing a separate civil action to contest the trust amendments that disinherited her if the civil court finds that the statute of limitations hasn't been tolled.

Under the Fifth DCA's decision disinherited beneficiaries like

Appellant, who were the intended victims of fraud and undue influence
perpetrated upon the trust settlor, no longer have recourse under the Probate

Code to invalidate an ill-gotten trust or changes to that trust. The Fifth

DCA's decision is fundamentally incorrect for public policy reasons

because it creates a perverse incentive to exploit susceptible trust settlors by

creating an administrative quagmire for beneficiaries who are the intended

victims of elder abuse and fraud. For example, pursuant to the Fifth DCA's

decision all equitable remedies available under the Probate Code are

offered to beneficiaries like Appellant's brother Dana Anthony Berry, Sr.

whose interests are merely diminished, however, bars fully disinherited

beneficiaries like Appellant from those same remedies. A copy of Appellant's brother Dana Anthony Berry, Sr.'s trust contest that is still pending before the Superior Court is attached to Appellant's MJN. (MJN at 0005-0058). Using the Fifth DCA's approach, disinherited beneficiaries are only allowed back into probate court after they successfully invalidate the ill-gotten trust in civil court.

Most trust contests are resolved by negotiated settlements, therefore, the issue of standing by a disinherited trust beneficiary raised in this case hasn't gone up on appeal before. Before this case, petitions under Probate Code 17200 to contest the validity of trusts on behalf of disinherited beneficiaries were commonly brought under the assumption that the standard applicable to will contests applies equally to trusts. It should be noted that nowhere in Appellant's pleadings was it alleged that Probate Code 17200 was Appellant's only basis for standing. Nevertheless, the generally accepted practice is that the probate court is the proper venue for parties whose interests are affected by the challenged trust instrument. However, there is no express statutory authority mandating so. For comparison, persons disinherited by a will have express statutory standing to contest the ill-gotten will in probate court under Probate Code 48.

The Fifth DCA's decision created a two-tiered judicial system whereby beneficiaries with diminished interests like Appellant's brother

may bring their claims in probate court pursuant to Probate Code 17200. however, disinherited beneficiaries like Appellant must seek their remedy in civil court. The Fifth DCA advised, "a complaint alleging the same causes of action would not be barred by the beneficiary limitation of section 17200." (Opn at p. 5 ftn 2). To follow the Fifth DCA's approach Appellant will first have to litigate the issue of whether the document is valid or not in civil court. However, the trial on Appellant's brother's trust contest has been continued pending the outcome of this appeal. (MJN at 0074-0077). Therefore, assuming Appellant is permitted to file a civil action to contest the validity of the trust amendments that disinherited her in civil court, there may be two different trials regarding the validity of the same documents and possibly two different orders reaching opposite conclusions regarding the validity of the exact same documents. This is a waste of judicial resources and inefficient because the trustee will be forced to defend identical lawsuits in two separate divisions of the same court. Additionally, this scenario would raise novel questions regarding res judicata that would likely be subject to further appeal. It's common practice for civil divisions to transfer trust contests to the probate division because probate courts have exclusive jurisdiction over the internal affairs of trusts and it makes sense to set all trust contests for trial at the same time. Furthermore, civil departments tend to transfer trust contests to probate

departments because probate departments are generally better equipped to handle complex trust and estate matters. For example, probate departments commonly have staff that specialize in probate matters such as probate research attorneys, probate examiners and probate technicians or clerks exclusively assigned to the probate department who assist the judge with analyzing complex trust disputes. The Fifth DCA's opinion has produced absurd results because the opinion bars civil courts from transferring trust contests filed in civil courts to be consolidated with other trust contests in probate court. The Superior Court will have to decide whether the civil court or the probate court will try the matter first. This Court should find that disinherited beneficiaries have standing to bring trust contests in probate court so that all trust contests can be heard by the same court at the same time.

Another problem with the Fifth DCA's opinion is after the ill-gotten trust is invalidated in civil court the victorious contestant who has now conferred standing as a beneficiary under Probate Code 17200 must return to probate court to litigate remaining companion issues against the trustee. For example, Appellant petitioned to declare that any recipients of distributions from the trust hold those assets and any income therefrom in constructive trust for the persons entitled to distribution of the trust property, for removal of the currently acting trustee, and for an order that

the currently acting trustee provide a complete accounting of the trust since the settlor's death. (Clerk's Transcript, hereinafter "CT" at 15). These companion issues are important to this appeal because the probate court has exclusive jurisdiction over the internal affairs of trusts which includes the removal of a trustee and accounting issues. In this appeal the removal of the trustee and accounting issues are interwoven with Appellant's claims that the currently acting trustee unduly influenced the settlor to effectuate the changes to the trust. It makes sense for all of Appellant's claims to be heard by the probate court at the same time. Additional items of concern are that unless this Court overturns the Fifth DCA's decision, the currently acting trustee will continue acting as trustee without any court supervision until after Appellant returns to probate court after her contest is successful in civil court and by that time it could be too late. As discussed below, civil courts don't function on an expedited timeline like probate court, therefore, it could be years before the trustee is subject to any court supervision.

As opposed to transferring Appellant's petition to a court the Fifth DCA deemed proper, the Fifth DCA wrote an opinion of first impression that improperly treats trust contests like standard civil lawsuits, bars disinherited beneficiaries from probate court, allows trustees to serve without court supervision pending trust contests by disinherited beneficiaries, departs from voluminous well-reasoned case law analogizing

wills to trusts, improperly forces disinherited beneficiaries to prove ultimate factual issues regarding the validity of the document at the pleading stage, and creates a dangerous quagmire for disinherited beneficiaries who wish to contest gifts to presumptively disqualified persons such as drafters of instruments, fiduciaries and care custodians. The Fifth DCA's opinion has far reaching unintended consequences which will be further discussed below. For example, although forgery is not at issue in this case, of additional concern is that the Fifth DCA's opinion fails to carve out any exceptions for beneficiaries disinherited by allegedly forged amendments.

This Court should resolve all issues brought before it by confirming that probate courts have jurisdiction to hear all trust contests and that disinherited beneficiaries have standing under Probate Code 17200, other statutes, common law and common sense to bring trust contests in probate court similar to how heirs disinherited by a will have standing to contest the will that disinherited them. Those defending ill-gotten amendments shouldn't be allowed to twist Probate Code 17200 to shield the amendments from judicial scrutiny and dismiss legitimate contests on an overly technical and out of context analysis of one code section.

LEGAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

Joan Lee Maynord (Joan) died on August 20, 2016 at the age of 83. (CT 6-7). Joan had five surviving children including Appellant, Respondents Jana Susan Jennings (Sue) and Shana Lee Wren (Shana), and the other petitioner in this case, Dana Anthony Berry, Sr. (Tony). (CT-124). Joan's fifth surviving child, Tommy Joe Glover, has not appeared in this litigation. Tony's case remains pending at the trial court level and his trust contest has been continued pending the outcome of this appeal. (MJN-0074-0077).

In 1986 Joan and her husband Robert Maynord (Robert) established The Maynord 1986 Family Trust (the Trust). (CT-7). They amended it once in 1992. (CT-125). Joan became the sole trustee when Robert died in 1993. (CT-7). After Robert's death Joan executed an additional 23 purported amendments and/or restatements of the Trust. (CT-125). Joan purportedly executed the 17th through 24th amendments over a period of less than three years. (CT 6-16, 122-36). Pursuant to at least the 16th amended version Appellant stood to receive a substantial inheritance as a beneficiary of the Trust. The purported 24th amended version of the Trust excludes Appellant as a beneficiary. (CT 20-21).

During the time preceding January 2013 Shana and Sue had assumed control of Joan's daily healthcare and finances. (CT-126). However, Shana and Sue were neglecting their mother's well-being. (CT-126). As a

result, Appellant moved back to California to care for Joan at Joan's request. (CT-127). In fact, on March 13, 2013 Joan designated Appellant as the executor of Joan's estate, successor trustee of Joan's Trust, personal representative for Joan's health care disclosures and agent for Joan's finances. (CT-127).

Appellant lovingly cared for her mother until Shana and Sue succeeded in poisoning the well against Appellant by means of fraud and undue influence to get back in control of Joan's healthcare and finances. (CT-127). Shana and Sue intentionally alienated Appellant from Joan and bullied Appellant to leave Joan's home. (CT-127). Shana and Sue conspired to falsely convince Joan that Appellant was responsible for initiating litigation against Joan regarding real property that Joan owned in Texas and for having Joan's driving privileges revoked. (CT-127). Shana and Sue also fed Joan's paranoia by falsely convincing Joan that Appellant was mentally ill and trying to harm the family. (CT-129).

Shana and Sue had control of Joan's healthcare and finances during the next three years leading up to Joan's death when Joan executed the 17th through 24th amendments. (CT-126). During that time period Joan relied on Shana and Sue for continuous assistance and management of Joan's healthcare and finances. (CT-127).

During the time that Joan executed the 17th through 24th amendments Joan suffered from the following conditions. Joan suffered from approximately five bouts of cancer that affected her major organs. (CT-126). She also suffered from cirrhosis which often caused her confusion, personality changes and fatigue due to her liver's inability to remove toxic substances from her blood. (CT-126). Joan also suffered from encephalopathy which affected her brain and caused her severe cognitive impairment. (CT-126, 129). Especially during the last three years of her life Joan was known to complain of difficulty thinking, concentrating, analyzing and remembering. (CT-126, 129-30). She even forgot how to start a motorcycle despite having driven motorcycles for years. (CT-126). During this time period Shana and Sue intentionally alienated Joan from Appellant and other family members. (CT-130-31). It was during this time that Shana and Sue were ultimately successful in unduly influencing Joan to increase their inheritances and disinherit Appellant. (CT-130).

B. The Underlying Pleadings

Appellant's petition challenged the validity of the 17th through 24th amendments to the Trust on three grounds. (CT 6-12, 124-33). In the first, Appellant alleged that Maynord was "not of sound and disposing mind" and thus lacked the "requisite mental capacity to amend the Trust." (CT-8,

128). In the second, Appellant alleged undue influence on behalf of Shana who received a large share from the Trust. (CT-8). In the third appellant alleged fraud on behalf of Shana, relying on similar facts as in the second ground. (CT-11). Appellant included a lengthy factual recitation of the facts she alleged led to her disinheritance. (CT 6-12, 122-36). Appellant additionally petitioned for removal of the trustee, imposition of a constructive trust on assets and proceeds of the Trust and for an accounting. (CT-13, 15).

Appellant alleged that she was a person interested in both the devolution of her mother's estate and the proper administration of the Trust because Appellant is both an heir at law, former beneficiary and successor trustee of the Trust before the purported amendments. (CT-7).

C. Motion to Dismiss

Respondents filed an answer to appellants petition and a motion to dismiss Appellants petition pursuant to Probate Code 17200 and 17202. (Supplemental Clerk's Transcript, hereinafter "SCT" at 4-196 and CT 59-97). Respondent's motion to dismiss argued that Appellant lacked standing under Probate Code 17200 because she was neither a beneficiary nor a trustee of the trust as constituted under the 24th amendment. (CT 59-60). Appellant opposed the motion and argued that she was a beneficiary under the 16th amendment and alleged that the later versions of the trust were

invalid. (CT 98-100). The trial court dismissed Appellant's petition for lack of standing. (CT 112-1123). Appellant brought a motion for reconsideration of the ruling dismissing her petition and attached a proposed amended petition including additional facts relevant to her claim that the later amendments were invalid and additional grounds for setting aside the amendments. (CT 120-84). Appellant attached a proposed amended petition as an exhibit to her motion for reconsideration. (CT-122-76). The proposed amended petition clarified the basis for Appellants standing, including additional statutory authority, and sought to add an additional cause of action for intentional interference with an expected inheritance. (CT 122-36). Respondents filed an opposition to Appellant's motion for reconsideration. (CT 185-93). Appellant filed a reply to the opposition to her motion for reconsideration. (CT194-218). The trial court denied Appellant's motion for reconsideration and Appellant filed a timely appeal. (CT 220-21, 223)

D. The Court of Appeal's Decision

The Fifth DCA affirmed the trial court's order dismissing

Appellant's petition for lack of standing, holding that the law is clear that
only a trustee or currently named beneficiary have standing to challenge the
terms of the trust in probate court. (Opn at p. 5). The Fifth DCA held that a
former beneficiary of a trust who no longer has any interest in the trust

lacks standing under Probate Code 17200 to challenge the validity of the amendments that disinherited her. (Opn at p. 8)

ARGUMENT

I. NO STATUTE OR POLICY LIMITS THE PROBATE COURT'S ABILITY TO HEAR TRUST CONTESTS FILED BY DISINHERITED BENEFICIARIES.

The Fifth DCA erroneously held that disinherited beneficiaries of a trust lack standing to bring trust contests in probate court. The Fifth DCA's conclusion rested on that court's erroneous pronouncement – the first of its kind by a California appellate court – that some trust contests must be filed in civil court and other trust contests may be filed in probate court. The Fifth DCA's holding departed from the well-established practice that disinherited beneficiaries are permitted to file trust contests in probate court. Furthermore, the Fifth DCA's opinion is contrary to public policy because it creates judicial waste by forcing parties with nearly identical claims to file in two separate courts and risks multiple courts reaching opposite conclusions regarding the validity of the exact same trust instrument. The Fifth DCA misses the boat because their analysis treats trust contests like standard civil lawsuits. Trust contests are not standard civil lawsuits, trust contests are specialized probate proceedings designed to determine inheritance rights. Typically probate courts don't rule on trust contests until notice has been perfected on all potential parties so that the

decision is binding on all the world with regard to the validity of the trust. This practice stands to reason because absent a protective statute, a trustee is ordinarily absolutely liable for mis delivery of the trust assets, even if the trustee reasonably believed that distribution was proper. (Rest.2d, Trusts (Restatement) § 226). If two different courts make two different decisions regarding which instrument is valid the trustee won't know who to distribute the assets to and the trustee will be absolutely liable for mis delivery of the trust assets. Therefore, the Fifth DCA's opinion violates public policy because trustees will be restrained from making distributions out of concern regarding liability pertaining to distributing assets pursuant to the wrong court order. This will cause needless confusion, appeals and litigation.

A. PROBATE COURTS HAVE GENERAL JURISDICTION TO DIPSOSE OF ANY MATTERS BROUGHT BEFORE IT IN ADDITION TO EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OVER THE INTERNAL AFFAIRS OF TRUSTS.

In proceedings commenced pursuant to Division 9 of the probate code concerning trust law the probate court is a court of general jurisdiction and has all the powers of the superior court. (Prob. Code § 17001).

Probate Code section 17004 states that the probate court may exercise jurisdiction in proceedings under Division 9 of the Probate Code concerning trust law on any basis permitted by section 410.10 of the Code of Civil Procedure. Code of Civil Procedure section 410.10 states that a

court of this state may exercise jurisdiction on any basis not inconsistent with the Constitution of this state or of the United States. In addition to having general jurisdiction, probate courts also have exclusive jurisdiction to hear cases regarding the internal affairs of trusts. (Saks v. Damon Raike & Co (1992) 7.Cal.App.4th 419, 429). The Law Revision Commission Comment to Probate Code 17000(b) states, "it is intended that the department of the superior court that customarily deals with probate matters will exercise the exclusive jurisdiction relating to internal trust affairs provided by subdivision (a)." (Cal. Law Revision Com., 54A West's Ann. Prob. Code (1991 ed). 17000, p. 182). Therefore, probate courts have more jurisdiction to dispose of the matters brought before it than regular civil courts because probate courts have exclusive jurisdiction over the internal affairs of trusts in addition to general jurisdiction to hear proceedings on any basis permitted by the Constitution of California and of the United States.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD CONFIRM THAT PROBATE COURTS ARE PERMITTED TO HEAR ALL TRUST CONTESTS BECAUSE IT IS SOUND PUBLIC POLICY TO HAVE ALL TRUST CONTESTS HEARD AT ONE TIME SO THAT THE DECREE REGARDING THE VALIDITY OF THE CONTESTED INSTRUMENT IS FINAL AND BINDING ON ALL THE WORLD.

Probate courts generally exercise in rem jurisdiction whereas civil courts generally exercise in personam jurisdiction. (Abels v. Frey (1932)

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