No. S251574 (Court of Appeal No. F076395) (Tuolumne County Super. Ct. No. PR11414)

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 3 2019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

JOAN MAURI BAREFOOT,

Appellant,

v.

JANA SUSAN JENNINGS AND SHANA LEE WREN, Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ARNOLD & PORTER KAYE SCHOLER LLP *SEAN M. SELEGUE (No. 155249) sean.selegue@arnoldporter.com Three Embarcadero Center, 10th Floor San Francisco, CA 94111-4024 Telephone: 415.471.3100

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

Further, the Elder Abuse Act can be invoked when an elder is convinced to create, modify, restate or rescind a trust through misconduct. See PROB. CODE §859. Thus it is possible through Probate Code Section 850 et. seq., to consolidate all causes of action relating to a trust contest, including civil causes of action, into one proceeding.

Mauri did not invoke any of these avenues of redress in her Petition or in opposing the motion to dismiss. She relied solely on Section 17200 in her petition and in opposing the motion to dismiss. Apparently realizing that approach was mistaken, Mauri now attempts to rewrite history by contending that her Petition was not actually brought under Section 17200. OB 44. She goes so far as to assert that "17200 is never even mentioned in Appel[I]ant's pleadings." OB 44 (emphasis added). That misstates the record.

The caption of Mauri's Petition specifically cited two (and only two) statutes: "Probate Code Sections 17000, 17200." CT 6.9 No other statute is cited anywhere else in Mauri's Petition. Her listing of the statutes under which her Petition was brought was required by Rule of Court 7.102, which

⁹ Section 17000 addresses superior court jurisdiction over trusts and does not bear on resolution of the issue presented to this Court.

states "The title of each pleading... must clearly and completely identify the nature of the relief sought." 10

2. The Opinion Did Not Create A Risk Of Inconsistent Decisions.

The Court of Appeal Opinion does not create a risk of inconsistent decisions regarding the validity of the same trust instrument, as Mauri contends. OB 23. Consistent with the Opinion's explanation that civil claims were available to Mauri had she filed a civil action, the Probate Code itself recognizes that some matters filed in probate court should actually be brought as a civil action. The Code therefore empowers a superior court with a probate department to recategorize a case within the court as appropriate. To that end, Section 801 provides that the

court, on its own motion or on the motion of any interested party, may order that an action or proceeding not specifically provided in this code be determined in a separate civil action. Upon the payment of the appropriate filing fees, the court may order transfer of the severed action or proceeding to the separate civil action.

¹⁰ Mauri also frets that the Opinion creates a two-tier court system by allowing current beneficiaries to invoke Section 17200, while not permitting former beneficiaries to do so. OB 12–13. By this, she seems to mean that it would be unfair to allow current beneficiaries access to the probate department but to exclude former beneficiaries from that opportunity. This contention merely begs the question of what Section 17200 means. Mauri does not (and could not) contend that the Legislature lacks power to define what is within and without of probate court proceedings or that the exercise of that power in Section 17200 was unconstitutional.

And, in any event, the premise of Mauri's argument is false because those who wish to contest a trust in probate court may do so by filing under Section 850 and complying with the enhanced procedural protections that statute affords opposing parties. See pp.16–19, supra.

This statute demonstrates Legislative recognition that more than one type of proceeding may be necessary to resolve the affairs of a decedent. The Opinion had no effect on that one way or another.

Moreover, in situations in which two or more actions related to a decedent's estate are pending (such as a probate proceeding, probate proceedings regarding a trust and a civil action), well-established procedures exist for managing them. Procedural tools including relating cases, consolidating them, staying all or portions of a case and abatement. For instance, in connection with Probate Code Section 850, the statutes provide as follows:

- "An action brought under this part may include claims, causes of action, or matters that are normally raised in a civil action to the extent that the matters are related factually to the subject matter of a petition filed under this part." PROB. CODE §855.
- "The court may not grant a petition under this chapter if the court determines that the matter should be determined by a civil action." *Id.* §856.5.
- "If a civil action is pending with respect to the subject matter of a petition filed pursuant to this chapter and jurisdiction has been obtained in the court where the civil action is pending prior to the filing of the petition, upon request of any party to the civil action, the court shall abate the petition until the conclusion of the civil action. This section shall not apply if the court finds that the civil action was filed for the purpose of delay." *Id.* §854.

In addition, the premise of Mauri's argument—that the Court of Appeal's analysis will require filings "in two separate courts" is false. The "Probate Court" is a department of a superior court, not an independent entity. Indeed, not all counties even offer a separate probate department. And

statutory authority for courts to handle related proceedings in one venue in an efficient manner is abundant.¹¹

Accordingly, Mauri's contentions regarding the possibility of multiple proceedings fail because (a) the statutes anticipate multiple proceedings and provide means for managing them; (b) the Opinion had no effect on whether, when or how multiple proceedings regarding a single decedent's affairs may be necessary or helpful or how they should be carried out and managed; and (c) the facts at bench do not involve multiple proceedings, which means there is nothing for this Court to decide in that regard.

11.

MAURI'S OPENING BRIEF PRESENTS NUMEROUS ISSUES BEYOND THE COURT OF APPEAL OPINION, WHICH WERE ALSO NOT PRESERVED IN THE TRIAL COURT.

A. The Court Should Not Reach The New Issues Mauri Presents.

The Court of Appeal opinion addressed only the issue of whether Mauri had standing under Section 17200, and that is the issue Mauri presented in her petition for review. As shown above, the Court of Appeal concluded correctly that she lacked standing under that statute.

¹¹ See, e.g., PROB. CODE §800 ("The court in proceedings under this code is a court of general jurisdiction and the court, or a judge of the court, has the same power and authority with respect to the proceedings as otherwise provided by law for a superior court, or a judge of the superior court, including, but not limited to, the matters authorized by Section 128 of the Code of Civil Procedure."); id. §17001 ("In proceedings commenced pursuant to this division, the court is a court of general jurisdiction and has all the powers of the superior court"); id. §17000 (court with jurisdiction over trust may handle various matters related to a trust).

Mauri's Opening Brief to this Court, however, goes far afield of that issue, addressing such matters as whether:

- California law recognizes lack of standing as a basis to dismiss a proceeding;
- a new action would be barred by the statute of limitations;
- the trial court should have transferred the matter instead of dismissing it;
- the trial court should have granted her leave to amend sua sponte, as though the motion were a demurrer, even though Mauri did not request that relief and the statutory motion to dismiss was not a demurrer.

These issues go beyond the single issue presented in the Petition for Review, which was: "Whether a former beneficiary of a trust lacks standing to challenge the validity of amendments to that trust that resulted in disinheritance?" OB 10. The substantial quantity of material in the Opening Brief that addresses other issues violates Rule 8.520(b)(3), which provides that, "[u]nless the court orders otherwise, briefs on the merits must be limited to the issues stated in [the statement of issues in the petition for review] and any issues fairly included in them." Accordingly, the Court should not consider these issues. See Dynamex Operations W., Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 903, 916 n.5 (2018) (declining to reach issue raised in merits brief but not in petition for review or answer: "that issue is not before us and we express no view on that question").

Further, these contentions are not preserved for review because they were not addressed by the Court of Appeal. "As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." CAL. R. CT. 8.500(c)(1). And, to the extent Mauri might claim to have presented any of these points to the Court of Appeal, she

failed to bring their omission in the Court of Appeal's Opinion to that court's attention through a petition for rehearing. Accordingly, the Court should not reach those issues because, "as a policy matter the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts." CAL. R. CT. 8.500(c)(2); see, e.g., Ebbetts Pass Forest Watch v. Cal. Dep't of Forestry & Fire Prot., 43 Cal. 4th 936, 951 nn.4 & 5 (2008) (declining to reach issue not decided by Court of Appeal and issue not raised in petition for review).

Nor are these new issues preserved for appeal under standard principles of appellate procedure. When Mauri opposed the motion to dismiss, she rested her entire opposition on her erroneous interpretation of Section 17200. CT 98–100. She did not ask for leave to amend, assert that she had stated civil claims or claim standing under any statute other than Section 17200. *Id.*

True, Mauri attempted to raise some of these points in a motion for reconsideration to the trial court, which she filed after the action was dismissed. But, as noted above, the trial court denied that motion because it lacked subject-matter jurisdiction and the motion was improper under Section 1008 of the Code of Civil Procedure. It was right to do so. See Bridgeman v. Allen, 219 Cal. App. 4th 288, 297 (2013) (dismissal of probate petition without prejudice was final judgment); APRI Ins. Co. v. Superior Court, 76 Cal. App. 4th 176, 181 (1999) ("[o]nce judgment has been entered, . . . the court may not reconsider it and loses its unrestricted power to change the judgment"). Mauri does not even mention these rulings in her Opening Brief, much less challenge the trial court's sound legal basis for its ruling—nor did she do so in the Court of Appeal.

Accordingly, the Court should decide the single issue Mauri teed up in her petition review—standing under Section 17200—and decline to reach the numerous additional

arguments Mauri has improperly presented for the first time to this Court after the grant of review.

B. In Any Event, Mauri's New Arguments Lack Merit.

Because it may be helpful to the Court, we offer a brief response to a few of the new issues Mauri has improperly raised in her Opening Brief.

1. Mauri's Contentions That Her Petition Was Not Subject To Dismissal Due To Lack Of Standing Are Baseless.

Mauri half-heartedly asserts various supposed procedural bars to dismissing her Petition for lack of standing, often contradicting her own arguments. None of these points have any merit.

Mauri first argues that standing is "largely" a federal concept (see, e.g., OB 33), suggesting the concept is not recognized by California courts, but goes on almost immediately to cite California cases discussing standing. See OB 33–34; see also id. at 41–42. This dispute is contrived. Like many of Mauri's myriad points, this contention serves only to beg the question of what Section 17200 means in stating that "a trustee or beneficiary of a trust" may file a Section 17200 petition. The answer to that question is not one of federal law but rather of California statutory interpretation. ¹²

¹² Mauri alludes to a federal court requirement that standing be proved with evidence (OB 34) and argues that California law requires only allegations, not proof, to establish standing. OB 42. In this context at least, Mauri is wrong. Section 17201 requires that a *verified* petition under Section 17200 "stat[e] facts showing that the petition is authorized under this chapter."

In any event, neither the Court of Appeal nor the trial court made any ruling that imposed a burden of proof on Mauri in connection with the motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeal Opinion analyzed Mauri's "allegations" without imposing on (... continued)

Mauri also argues that dismissal was inappropriate under Section 581 of the Code of Civil Procedure, which she implicitly contends lists all proper grounds for dismissing an action. OB 44. Because lack of standing is not mentioned in Section 581, Mauri suggests that the trial court here could not have dismissed her Petition for lack of standing. *Id.* She is wrong under Section 581's own terms. Subdivision (m) of that statute states that the "provisions of this section shall not be deemed to be an exclusive enumeration of the court's power to dismiss an action or dismiss a complaint as to a defendant."

Further, Section 581 did not govern the motion to dismiss at issue here. That motion as brought, and authorized by, Probate Code Section 17202, which specifically authorizes a motion to dismiss a Section 17200 petition.

2. No Decision Regarding Timeliness Of This Action Or A Future Action Is Before This Court.

Mauri ruminates about whether she can timely file another petition even though her Petition was dismissed without prejudice, never taking a firm position on the point. See OB 11, 29. However, no ruling about timeliness, limitations or any other time-based doctrines is presented in this case.

It would be unusual enough for this Court to take up an issue not decided by the Court of Appeal or the trial court but even more out of order to speculate about what might happen in some future proceeding. Whether another proceeding by Mauri would be timely has nothing to do with who has standing to bring a Section 17200 petition and is not properly before this Court.¹³

^{(...} continued) her a need to prove them. See 27 Cal. App. 5th at 4.

¹³ If anything, Mauri is attempting an end-run around the doctrine of laches. Respondents believe that Mauri knew of (...continued)

3. The Trial Court Had No Reason to Transfer Mauri's Petition.

Mauri claims the trial court should have transferred her petition to another court or division of the same court under Section 396(b) of the Code of Civil Procedure. OB 62. But that statute had no application to Mauri's Petition.

Section 396(b) provides that "If the superior court *lacks* jurisdiction of an appeal or petition, and a court of appeal or the Supreme Court would have jurisdiction, the appeal or petition shall be transferred to the court having jurisdiction upon terms as to costs or otherwise as may be just, and proceeded with as if regularly filed in the court having jurisdiction." (Emphases added).

Here, the trial court's dismissal of Mauri's Petition was not based on lack of jurisdiction. It was based on her lack of standing to bring a petition under Section 17200. The outcome would have been the same in any California court.

4. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Not Granting Leave To Amend Sua Sponte.

Mauri criticizes the trial court for not allowing her leave to amend to allege a civil claim for intentional interference with an expected inheritance. OB 29. She claims to have asked for that relief and that the trial court, "instead of allowing Appellant to amend her pleadings[,]... dismissed Appellant's petition." OB 29. That, of course, is a misstatement of the record.

her mother's alleged mental incompetence well before Joan's death and therefore the current challenge is time-barred. See, e.g., Drake v. Pinkham, 217 Cal. App. 4th 400, 408–10 (2013) (beneficiary may challenge a trust during settlor's life if settlor is incompetent and failure to do so under after settlor's death resulted in laches). The lack of a record on this issue shows the danger of deciding it outside of established procedures.

Mauri did not seek leave to amend in opposition to the motion to dismiss. Rather, she chastised opposing counsel for pointing out that she had civil remedies available to her, commenting that "[i]f Respondents want to rely on the availability of alternative, more suitable remedies, they should identify those remedies and explain why they are more suitable." CT 100. Nor did the trial court, as Mauri claims, dismiss her action in response to a request to amend. Instead, Mauri sought leave to amend only after the action was dismissed, by which point the trial court lacked jurisdiction. See p.13, supra.

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